ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


I. 	 THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 61-8
5(b) ESTABLISHES A FELONY CRIMINAL OFFENSE ONLY 
AGAINST THIRD PARTIES WHO DERIVE A FINANCIAL 
BENEFIT FROM THE EARNINGS OF AN ALLEGED 
PROSTITUTE. 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE 
FELONY "SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE" PROVISION APPLIED 
TO THE PETITIONER. 

STATEMENT OF CASE 

The facts of the instant case are not complex. On February 2, 2015 Ms. 

Belinda Fuller entered a vehicle driven by an undercover police officer working on 

behalf of the Huntington Police Department. After entering the officer's vehicle, Ms. 

Fuller allegedly offered to perform oral sex on the officer in exchange for twenty 

($20.00) dollars. (A. R. 1 ).1 

Ms. Fuller was charged "Soliciting Prostitution 3rd Offense." The criminal 

complaint alleged that Ms. Fuller had been previously convicted of prostitution offenses 

on January 17, 2013 and October 20, 2012. (A. R. 1 ). No other persons were charged in 

connection with the alleged criminal conduct. On February 11,2015, Ms. Fuller waived 

1 References to the Appendix Record - the contents of which were agreed to by the 
Parties - are hereafter set forth as 11A. R. _." 
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her right to a preliminary hearing in exchange for a modification of her bail to a $15,000 

personal recognizance bond. 

Ms. Fuller was indicted on May 4, 2015 in a single count indictment charging 

I/JRD Offense Solicitation Of An Act Of Prostitution." The indictment alleged the same 

prior conviction dates as set forth in the criminal complaint. (A. R. 2). 

Ms. Fuller was arraigned on the indictment on October 13, 2015. She was 

subsequently placed on home incarceration, and the Court further ordered that she be 

evaluated for possible placement in the newly-created Women's Empowerment 

Addiction Recovery (I/WEAR") program. 

On December 29, 2015 the Petitioner filed a Motion to Dismiss the Indictment 

and supporting Memorandum (A.R. 4). No pleadings were filed in opposition to the 

Motion. 

On January 5, 2016 the Court heard arguments on the Motion to Dismiss. The 

State offered no argument in opposition to the Motion. Following the Court's denial of 

the Motion for Dismissal, the Petitioner entered a conditional plea of guilty to the 

charge contained in the indictment. The Court accepted the conditional plea and 

sentenced Ms. Fuller to one to three years' imprisonment, but suspended execution of 

the sentence to permit the instant appeal. (A.R. 26). The Court set a status hearing for 

March 3, 2016. 

On that date, the Court rescinded the suspension of execution of sentence based 

on a violation by Ms. Fuller of the home incarceration rules. (A.R. 36). The Court also 

determined that Ms. Fuller was ineligible for admission to the WEAR program based on 
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her prior criminal record. Ms. Fuller is currently an inmate at the Western Regional Jail 

and is awaiting transportation to a Division of Corrections facility. 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

West Virginia Code § 61-8-5(b) sets forth the penalties for persons allegedly 

engaging in acts of prostitution and solicitation of prostitution. While the statute clearly 

authorizes misdemeanor penalties against alleged prostitutes, it does not authorize the 

imposition of a felony offense against an alleged prostitute. The plain language of this 

provision creates a felony offense only against third parties who derive a financial 

benefit from the earnings of an alleged prostitute. 

Because the statute establishes a felony offense only against such third parties, 

the Circuit Court erred in denying the Petitioner's Motion to Dismiss and in accepting 

the Petitioner's conditional guilty plea. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

The central issue in this Petition is one of first impression, as there is no existing 

precedent regarding this specific issue. Accordingly, Counsel would request oral 

argument under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. In the alternative, as the 

issue involves the interpretation of an existing statute, Counsel would request oral 

argument under Rule 19 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. 
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ARGUMENT 


I. 	 THE PLAIN LANGUAGE OF WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 61-8
5(b) ESTABLISHES A FELONY CRIMINAL OFFENSE ONLY 
AGAINST THIRD PARTIES WHO DERIVE A FINANCIAL 
BENEFIT FROM THE EARNINGS OF AN ALLEGED 
PROSTITUTE. 

West Virginia Code §61-8-5(b) 2 states: 

(b) Any person who shall engage in prostitution, lewdness, or assignation, or 
who shall solicit, induce, entice, or procure another to commit an act of 
prostitution, lewdness, or assignation; or who shall reside in, enter, or remain in 
any house, place, building, hotel, tourist camp, or other structure, or enter or 
remain in any vehicle, trailer, or other conveyance for the purpose of 
prostitution, lewdness, or assignation; or who shall aid, abet, or participate in the 
doing of any of the acts herein prohibited, shall, upon conviction for the first 
offense under this section, be punished by imprisonment in the county jail for 
a period of not less than sixty days nor more than six months, and by a fine of 
not less than fifty dollars and not to exceed one hundred dollars; and upon 
conviction for the second offense under this section, be punished by 
imprisonment in the county jail for a period of not less than six months nor 
more than one year, and by a fine of not less than one hundred dollars and not to 
exceed two hundred fifty dollars, and upon conviction for any subsequent 
offense under this section shall be punished by imprisonment in the 
penitentiary for not less than one year nor more than three years. 

The subsequent offense provision shall apply only to the pimp, panderer, 
solicitor, operator or any person benefiting financially or otherwise from the 
earnings of a prostitute. (emphasis added). 

The plain language in the first paragraph of this section establishes penalties for 

first and second offense convictions of prostitution or solicitation, and further 

establishes an enhanced penalty for any person convicted of a /Isubsequent offense". 

2 The statute has not been modified or amended since 1943. 
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The "subsequent offense" provision is directly modified by the very next 

sentence, which clearly states that the felony enhancement applies only to persons 

''benefiting financially or otherwise from the earnings of a prostitute." This provision 

clearly contemplates the involvement of a third party - the "pimp, panderer, solicitor, 

operator"or any other third party deriving a pecuniary benefit from the acts of an 

alleged prostitute. 

The Petitioner asserts that this language is clear and unambiguous. "Courts 

always endeavor to give effect to the legislative intent, but a statute that is clear and 

unambiguous will be applied and not construed." Syllabus Point I, State v. Elder, 152 

W.Va. 571,165 S.E.2d 108 (1968). 

Even if the argument were to be made that the relevant statute contains some 

shade of ambiguity, the rule of lenity requires that any such ambiguity must be 

resolved in favor of the Petitioner. See also, Syllabus Point I, Myers v. Murensky, 162 

W.Va. 5, 245 S.E.2d 920 (1978) ("Ambiguous penal statutes must be strictly construed 

against the State and in favor of the defendant."); Syllabus Point 2, State v. Riley, 158 

W.Va. 823, 215 S.E.2d 460 (1975) ( "Penal statutes are strictly construed against the state 

and favorably for the defendant."). 

The trial court reasoned that the Petitioner, as an alleged prostitute, was included 

in that class of persons listed as "benefiting financially or otherwise from the earnings 

of a prostitute." The trial court stated: 

THE COURT: And that's where you and I differ, because it would seem 
like your client did benefit financially from the transaction. 
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MR. COOK: Understood, Your Honor, and our argument is simply .. .if that 
provision applies to [the Petitioner] or any other alleged prostitute, then that 
provision really has no effect. It doesn't need to be there if it applies to 
everybody. 

THE COURT: Sometimes the Legislature writes things they don't 
particularly mean or understand, but in this case you are arguing, at least to me, 
and I have reread and we have talked about this before, is that she did benefit 
financially and thus the statute would apply. (A.R. 17 ). 

The trial court's statement as to the Legislature's potential confusion and/or 

error in drafting the modifying provision of §61-8-5(b) overlooks the plain language of 

the provision and the legislative intent behind the provision. "[C]ourts must presume 

that a legislature says in a statute what it means and means in a statute what it says 

there.' " Martin v. Randolph County Board ofEducation, 195 W.Va. 297,312,465 S.E.2d 399, 

414 (1995), quoting Connecticut Nat'l Bank v. Germain, 503 U.S. 249, 253-54, 112 S.Ct. 

1146,1149, 117 L.Ed.2d 391, 397 (1992). 

In reviewing the provisions of §61-8-5(b), the statute must be viewed and 

examined in its entirety. "In the construction of a legislative enactment, the intention of 

the legislature is to be determined, not from any single part, provision, section, 

sentence, phrase or word, but rather from a general consideration of the act or statute in 

its entirety." Syllabus Point 1, Parkins v. Londeree, 146 W.Va. 1051, 124 S.E.2d 471 (1962). 

When viewing the section in its entirety, it is clear that the Legislature intended 

different penalties for alleged prostitutes and for third parties who were deriving 

income from their acts. 

If the trial court's rationale is affirmed, the modifying provision of §61-8-5(b) is 

rendered void and completely meaningless. If, contrary to the express language of the 
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section, the felony enhancement applies to all persons named in the first sentence of the 

section, what then is the purpose of the "subsequent offense" provision? It would apply 

to no one and would have absolutely no legal effect and be rendered a complete legal 

nullity. 

While this particular issue is one of first impression, a review of case precedent 

clearly shows the intended target of the felony enhancement provision. Counsel has 

been unable to locate a single decision of this Court discussing an alleged prostitute 

receiving a felony conviction. The decisions of this Court regarding the provisions of 

§61-8-5 universally discuss persons convicted of operating houses of prostitution or 

similar venues under subsection (a) of this section. See State v. Crummit, 129 W. Va. 366, 

40 S.B. 2d 852 (1946) (defendant convicted of operating a house of prostitution); State v. 

Badda, 97 W. Va. 417, 125 S.B. 159 (1924) (appellant convicted of operating a "house of ill 

fame"); State v. Burke, 130 W. Va. 64,42 S.E. 2d 544 (1947) (maintaining a hotel for the 

purpose of prostitution.) 

When viewed in this historical context, it is evident that the Legislature was 

primarily concerned with punishing those individuals who were deriving their living 

from the sexual acts of young women, who were often forced into prostitution against 

their will.3 While such a view may be considered somewhat dated, it should be noted 

that the current focus of law enforcement efforts against human trafficking focus not on 

punishment of the alleged prostitutes, but on those who force these persons into such 

3 W. Va. Code 61-8-8 (1986) provides a separate felony offense for a second or 
subsequent offense charges of "pimping." 
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acts and obtain financial benefits from these acts.4 Punishment of those who benefit 

from the victimization of young women has been and remains the focus of legislative 

and law enforcement efforts. 

A review of neighboring states provides valuable insight into current legislative 

approaches towards act of prostitution, demonstrating that acts of prostitution (as 

opposed to acts by third parties, i.e., pimps, etc.) are typically treated as misdemeanor 

offenses. The Commonwealth of Virginia establishes a single misdemeanor offense of 

prostitution, punishable by a sentence of up to twelve months and a fine of up to 

$2,500.00. (Va. Code Ann. § 18.2-346). The State of Ohio similarly establishes only a 

maximum misdemeanor offense for prostitution, punishable as a third degree 

misdemeanor. (Ohio Rev. Code. §2907.25). The State of Kentucky establishes 

prostitution as a class B misdemeanor, punishable by a maximum sentence of less than 

90 days (Ky. Rev. Stat. §529.020, Ky. Rev. Stat. § 532.020). Pennsylvania provides that 

acts of prostitution are treated as misdemeanors (including "fourth or subsequent 

offense[s]"), unless the prostitute knows that he or she is HIV positive at the time of the 

alleged act. (18 Pa. C.S.A. § 5902). 

By way of comparison, Virginia makes both "procuring" another to engage in 

sexual acts, and receiving money from the sexual acts of others, punishable as Class 4 

felonies with a possible sentence of 2-10 years. (Va. Code Ann. §18.2-356, 357). The State 

of Ohio treats both compelling and promoting acts of prostitution as felony offenses 

4 Current figures indicate an increase in allegations of human trafficking and sex 
trafficking in West Virginia in the past two years. Beck, New Efforts Underway to End 
Human Trafficking in West Virginia, Charleston Gazette-Mail, May 9,2016. 
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(O.R.c. 2907.21, 2907.22). Similarly, Kentucky provides that any person who 

"knowingly advances or profits from prostitution", when two or more prostitutes are 

involved, may be punished as a Gass D felon with a possible prison sentence of 1-5 

years. (K.R.S. §529.040). Likewise, Pennsylvania treats most categories of "promoting" 

prostitution as a felony offense (18 Pa. C.S.A. § 5902). 

II. 	 THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT THE 
FELONY "SUBSEQUENT OFFENSE" PROVISION APPLIED 
TO THE PETITIONER. 

"Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law 

or involving an interpretation of a statute, we apply a de novo standard of review." Syi. 

Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L., 194 W. Va. 138,459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). 

The initial criminal complaint and subsequent indictment allege only that the 

Petitioner committed an act of prostitution. There are no allegations whatsoever that the 

Petitioner was deriving a financial benefit from the acts of other persons. 

As noted in the previous section, the trial court based its denial of the Petitioner's 

Motion to Dismiss on the rationale that the"subsequent offense" provision applied to 

alleged prostitutes on the basis that she was "benefiting financially" from the 

transaction. 5 For the reasons set forth in the previous section, the Petitioner asserts that 

the Circuit Court incorrectly interpreted the "subsequent offense" provision of W. Va. 

5 The Petitioner received no pecuniary benefit as she was arrested by an undercover 
police officer operating a prostitution" sting" . 
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Code §61-8-5(b). Accordingly, the Petitioner argues that the Motion to Dismiss the 

Indictment herein should have been granted. 

CONCLUSION 

West Virginia Code §61-8-5(b) does not provide for imposition of a felony offense 

against an alleged prostitute. The plain language of this section authorizes such a 

penalty only against third parties deriving benefits from a prostitute. Like the 

surrounding states, West Virginia reserves its most stringent punishment for those 

persons who seek to make a living from the debasing and potentially dangerous acts of 

prostitution committed by others. 

The Petitioner entered into a conditional guilty plea based upon the Circuit 

Court's erroneous interpretation of W. Va. Code §61-8-5(b). Absent this ruling, the 

Petitioner can face only a misdemeanor conviction and possible jail time, as opposed to 

a felony conviction and imprisonment. 

The Petitioner would pray that the Honorable Court reverse the Petitioner's 

conviction on the grounds that the statute does not authorize the imposition of a felony 

charge against an alleged prostitute. 

Russ 11 S. Cook 0NV Bar # 525 
Counsel of Record for Petitioner