STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


The facts behind this appeal are not disputed. On February 4, 2015, the petitioner and 

defendant below, Belinda Fuller, offered an undercover police officer oral sex if he would pay 

her twenty dollars. (App. 1). The officer arrested petitioner. (Jd.). She had twice previously been 

convicted of soliciting for prostitution, first on October 20,2012 and again on January 18,2013. 

(Jd. ). 

A grand jury indicted petitioner on charges of a third offense of soliciting for prostitution 

on May 4, 2015. (App. 2,4). She was arraigned on this indictment on October 13,2015, before 

filing a motion to dismiss the indictment on December 29. (App. 4). This motion was denied 

during a hearing held on January 5, 2016. (App. 12 et seq.). At this hearing, counsel for the 

petitioner asserted that under West Virginia Code § 61-8-5(b), the petitioner should not be 

eligible for a sentence of 1 to 3 years, as her crime did not properly fall within the "subsequent 

offense" provision of the statute. (App. 17). The trial judge rejected petitioner's interpretation of 

the statute. (Jd.). Following the denial of her motion, petitioner pled guilty to a third offense of 

prostitution, reserving the right to appeal the proper meaning ofW. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b). (App. 

21, 26). Petitioner was sentenced to one to three years in prison, under the subsequent offense 

provision of W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b). (App. 26). The trial judge denied a motion to reconsider 

and confirmed the sentence on March 3, 2016, prompting this appeal. (App. 36). With the facts 

of petitioner's solicitation of prostitution not disputed, this appeal is limited to the question of 

whether her repeated offenses qualify for a felony sentence under the subsequent offense 

provision of the statute. 

1 




SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 


This case turns on the proper interpretation of West Virginia Code § 61-S-5(b). Under 

this statute, any defendant already convicted of two crimes of prostitution, or of soliciting 

another to commit prostitution, will be subject to felony penalties upon conviction for a third 

such offense. The statute qualifies this "subsequent offense" provision as applying only to pimps, 

panderers, "solicitor[s]", operators, or "any person benefiting financially or otherwise" from a 

prostitute's earnings. Petitioner was convicted for "solicitation of prostitution," and thus falls 

under the text of the statute. The "any person" clause also includes prostitutes themselves when 

they work for their own financial gain. Both the plain text of the law and the policy of combating 

prostitution underlying the law point to this outcome. The broad phrase "any person benefiting 

financially" should not be limited to artificially exclude the most obvious fmancial beneficiary of 

an act of prostitution: the prostitute themselves. All arguments to the contrary amount to reading 

in limitations which do not appear in the text of the statute. Examination of the prostitution laws 

and cases of other states provides very mixed precedent, and in any event cannot override the 

plain meaning of the text or the West Virginia legislature's decisions on matters of policy. 

Given this interpretation of the statute, the Circuit Court did not err in sentencing the 

petitioner to one to three years in prison, following her plea of guilty to a third offense of 

prostitution. The application of the statute to the petitioner follows logically from the trial 

judge's interpretation ofthe law, which was correct as stated above. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION 

Determining the necessity of oral argument is a matter of the Court's discretion. W. Va. 

R. A. P. 19,20. Respondent contends that argument is unnecessary in this case, under R. A. P. 

lS( a)( 4). The briefs and records on appeal adequately present the facts and legal arguments, with 
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the facts under no dispute. An application of the plain language of W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b) 

could decide the case. A memorandum decision affirming the Circuit Court's ruling would be 

appropriate. 

ARGUMENT 

As this case turns on a question of law, and specifically on the proper interpretation of a 

state statute, the lower court's decision is reviewed de novo. Syl. Pt. 1, Chrystal R.M v. Charlie 

A.L., 194 W.Va. 138, 459 S.E.2d 415 (1995). If the sentence falls within the bounds of the 

statute, and was not based on another impermissible factor, then it is not subject to further 

appellate review. Syl. Pt. 6, State v. Slater, 222 W.Va. 499, 665 S.E.2d 674 (2008). 

Petitioner asserts two assignments of error, which the State specifically and generally 

denies. These two issues are closely connected: petitioner first contends that West Virginia Code 

§ 61-8-5(b) imposes felony criminal penalties only against "third parties" who derive a financial 

benefit from the earnings of a prostitute. The circuit court interpreted the statute as applying to 

prostitutes themselves when they are direct financial beneficiaries of their own prostitution, 

which interpretation petitioner declares error. Based on her reading of the statute, petitioner next 

alleges that the circuit court erred in applying a felony penalty to her individually, as a repeat 

offender of § 61-8-5(b). 

I. 	 West Virginia Code § 61-8-5(b) establishes a felony criminal penalty for any person 
benefiting from the earnings of a prostitute. 

West Virginia Code § 61-8-5(b) law provides increasing penalties for repeat prostitution 

offenders. Any conviction for a "subsequent offense," beyond the second, of engaging in 

prostitution or soliciting, inducing, enticing, or procuring another to commit prostitution carries a 

penalty of one to three years in prison. The statute then conditions the "subsequent offense" 
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provision by stating that it shall apply "only to the pimp, panderer, solicitor, operator or any 

person benefitting financially or otherwise from the earnings of a prostitute." 

In applying statutory language, "courts are not free to read into the language what is not 

there, but rather should apply the statute as written." State v. Hutton, 235 W.Va. 724, 730, 776 

S.E.2d 621, 627 (2015). It is true that the court must "ascertain and give effect to the intent of the 

Legislature" in construing a statute. Syl. Pt. 1, Smith v. State Workmen's Camp. Comm'r, 159 

W.Va. 108,219 S.E.2d 361 (1975). To ascertain legislative intent, however, the text itself is the 

first guide, and "if the text, given its plain meaning, answers the interpretive question, the 

language must prevail and further inquiry is foreclosed." Appalachian Power Co. v. State Tax 

Dep't o/West Virginia, 195 W.Va. 573,587,466 S.E.2d 424, 438 (1995). 

The plain language of this statute states that any person receiving a financial benefit from 

a prostitute'S earnings may be sentenced under the subsequent offen~e provision. A party 

convicted of "soliciting" for prostitution, as petitioner here was, falls explicitly under this statute. 

The broad phrase "any person benefiting financially" settles the matter in favor of the 

respondent. "Any," within the context of state statutes, has been explicitly held to mean "any," 

subject only to whatever clear qualifications accompany the word within its statute. See State v. 

Stone, 229 W.Va. 271, 278, 728 S.E.2d 155, 162 (2012). The petitioner here explicitly sought 

financial gain, twenty dollars to be precise, in exchange for the act of oral sex. (App. 1). The trial 

judge recognized this during the hearing concerning petitioner's motion to dismiss the 

indictment, and concluded that the subsequent offense provision should apply. (App. 17). No 

evidence was offered that the twenty dollars requested for sex would have gone to the benefit of 

any person other than the petitioner. 
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It cannot be reasonably argued that the preceding list of terms in the subsequent offense 

provision, "pimp, panderer, solicitor, [or] operator" limits the entire group of offenders captured 

under this clause to those managing a large prostitution operation. The petitioner argues that the 

statute was designed to target those who make their living through managing the prostitution of 

vulnerable young women. While such criminals are certainly covered under this provision, the 

inclusion of "solicitors" of prostitution, which includes prostitutes themselves who advertise 

their trade, definitely expands the reach of this statute beyond brothel owners or other leaders of 

organized crime. Petitioner was indicted in this case exactly for "solicitation of prostitution." 

(App. 4). Indeed, pimps are subject to harsher penalties under a different state statute, with 

felony charges applied upon the second, rather than the third, conviction of pimping. West 

Virginia Code § 61-8-8. This statute is designed to target prostitution broadly by focusing 

simultaneously on buyers and on any party deliberately accumulating money via the trade, 

regardless of their precise role. To shield a convicted "solicitor" from increased punishment on 

the grounds that they were also the prostitute in question amounts to making actual prostitution a 

mitigating factor in sentencing. 

The rule of lenity cannot be brought to bear on the side of the petitioner unless textual 

ambiguity can be established in the first place. Here it cannot. State precedent confirms that 

"ambiguous penal statutes must be strictly construed against the State and in favor of 

the defendant." Syl. Pt. 1, Myers v. Murensky, 162 W.Va. 5,245 S.E.2d 920 (1978). 

This clause presumes an ambiguous statute, which is not the case here. The rule of 

lenity does not foreclose a court, from reading the plain text of a particular clause as 

well as considering the role of that clause within the statute as a whole. See State v. 

Stone, 229 W.Va. 271, 277, 728 S.E.2d 155, 161 (2012). Lenity exists to guard against 
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overaggressive judicial interpretations of the law, but the trial judge's reading of W. 

Va. Code § 61-8-5(b) as allowing an increased sentence for the petitioner was not overly 

aggressive in this case. See State v. Stone, 229 W.Va. at 277,728 S.E.2d at 161. 

The phrase "third party" appears numerous times in the petitioner's brief, but is 

conspicuously absent from the relevant statute. W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b) does not mention third 

parties, but rather provides increased punishment for any third or subsequent violation of the 

underlying statute for which the actor receives financial gain. In any given transaction, this could 

be the prostitute themselves, a pimp, or another accomplice. Nothing in the statute suggests that 

the prostitute themselves ought to be excluded from this provision, unless they were working 

purely for the benefit of another party with no financial gain for themselves. Similarly, the 

statute does not mention reception of financial benefit from the acts of other persons, but any 

benefit derived from the earnings of a prostitute, who could also be the benefitted party. 

This application of the statute does not render the "subsequent offense" limitation clause 

meaningless. Constructions which render a clause within a statute meaningless are rightly 

disfavored. Mitchell v. City o/Wheeling, 202 W.Va. 85,88,502 S.E.2d 182, 185 (1998). In this 

case, reading the limitation clause to include any person benefitting financially from the earnings 

of a prostitute would still exclude from the subsequent offense provision as person engaged in 

prostitution but deriving no benefit from it. Any prostitute whose earnings were going solely to a 

third party would be properly exempted. Thus, the limitation clause retains a significant 

meaning. It is rational that those benefitting financially from prostitution, whether their own or 

that of someone under their control, should be subject to a higher penalty than a prostitute 

controlled by a third party and receiving no benefits. 
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The petitioner's reading of the statute actually suggests the irrational conclusion that a 

party convicted a third time for prostitution, as opposed to pimping or controlling a prostitute, 

should receive no punishment whatsoever. W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b) specifies punishments for 

first and second offenses for prostitution, and then specifies the punishment for any "subsequent 

offense." The logical consequence of reading the statute literally but not applying the subsequent 

offense provision to prostitutes themselves, when they benefit financially from their activities, 

would be to impose no sentence on a prostitute for any conviction after her second, no matter 

how egregious the prostitute's behavior might have been. Such a construction would lead to 

"injustice and absurdity," and must therefore be rejected. State v. Horn, 232 W.Va. 32, 42, 750 

S.E.2d 248,258 (2013) (quoting Syl. pt. 2, Click v. Click, 98 W.Va. 419, 127 S.E. 194 (1925)). 

This court can avoid such a result by including prostitutes working for themselves under the 

category of persons targeted by the subsequent offense provision. Many statutes impose 

increased penalties for repeat offenders, but an interpretation suggesting that a third criminal 

offense should be forgiven when the first two were not would be very strange. 

Courts in West Virginia'S neighbor states have declined to impose any felony penalties 

for prostitution itself, as opposed to enticing or forcing others into prostitution, for the simple 

reason that their statutes provide no such penalties. See, e.g., Virginia Code § 18.2-346, Ohio 

Rev. Code § 2907.25. The proper punishment for prostitution, as well as for any other crime, is 

a matter of policy judgment properly reserved to the legislature within limits set by the state and 

federal constitutions. See State ex reZ. Sams v. Commissioner, West Virginia Div. ofCorrections, 

218 W.Va. 572, 577, 625 S.E.2d 334, 339 and n. 20 (2005). The question needed to determine 

the outcome of this case is not whether West Virginia's statutory scheme accords with those of 

neighboring states, but what the statute currently on West Virginia'S books prescribes as the 
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appropriate punishment under these circumstances. If the text of the statute in question can 

resolve the question before the court, as it can in this case, there is no need to look for precedent 

elsewhere. 

If external guidance is desired, however, enforcing a felony sentence for repeated 

prostitution itself would certainly not be unprecedented. Other states with such laws include 

Indiana, Code § 35-45-4-2, Missouri, Statutes § 567.110 (providing a felony punishment for 

"persistent" prostitution offenders), Montana, Code § 45-5-601 (allowing for up to five years' 

imprisonment), Idaho, Code § 18-5613, Louisiana, Rev. Statutes § 14:82, and Texas, Penal Code 

§ 43.02. West Virginia would not isolate itself with respect to its treatment of prostitution by 

imposing a felony punishment for a third-time offender. Again, the examination of laws from 

other states should not decide the case in either direction, but it bears mentioning that application 

of West Virginia'S subsequent offense statute to petitioner would not make the state an outlier. 

Both textual and policy arguments, therefore, weigh in favor of the trial judge's 

interpretation of the subsequent offense provision. The petitioner's alternative interpretation, 

reading the phrase "third parties" into the statute, should be rejected as unsupported by the 

statute's text. 

II. 	The "subsequent offense" prOVISIon properly applies to the petitioner, as the 
financial beneficiary of her own prostitution. 

In light of the above construction of the statute, the petitioner here falls squarely under 

the "subsequent offense" clause of W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b). The original criminal complaint 

and ensuing guilty plea confinn that the petitioner offered oral sex in exchange for twenty 

dollars. CAppo 22). It is true that the petitioner did not benefit from anyone else's acts of 

prostitution, but such is not required by the statute in order to receive a felony sentence of 1 to 3 
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years. The statute targets those repeatedly engagmg in prostitution for financial gam, and 

justifiably imposes a harsher sentence than a first-time offender would receive. 

The trial judge correctly applied W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b) in denying the petitioner's 

motion to dismiss her indictment. The language of the statute focuses the issue and reveals the 

rationale for specifying different levels of punishment, by asking: who is receiving the financial 

benefit from an illegal act of prostitution? That is the person (or group of people) who must 

receive a higher sentence for repeat offenses, in order to best deter continued prostitution or 

promotion of prostitution in the future. In some cases, that beneficiary might not be the prostitute 

him- or herself. In those cases, the petitioner is correct that the state's punitive power would be 

better directed towards the actual beneficiaries organizing the illegal activity, leaving the 

individual prostitute with a lighter sentence. Where the prostitute is working directly for their 

own financial gain, however, it is rational to bring the deterring effects of an enhanced sentence 

home to them personally. This will be accomplished by applying the felony penalty established 

by W. Va. Code § 61-8-5(b) to the petitioner here. 

The greater the financial temptation attached to a criminal act, the greater the penalty that 

should be attached to that act, in the interests of maintaining law and order and discouraging 

criminal activity. The legislature has also decided that repeat offenders, who have shown a 

willingness to continue criminal activity despite earlier punishments, should not be treated the 

same as those engaging in criminal activity for the first time. This decision is well within the 

legislature'S sphere of authority and should not be disturbed. The legislature's strategy of 

targeting the financial beneficiaries of prostitution makes sense, but their objective of 

diminishing prostitution within West Virginia will be undermined if certain financial 

beneficiaries are exempted from the statute's penalties. 
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Petitioner's secondary claim that she received no financial benefit from the transaction, 

because she was arrested before any money changed hands, should have no bearing on the 

outcome of this case. Were this argument to be adopted, all persons arrested in the course of a 

prostitution sting, whether prostitute or pimp, would become exceedingly hard to charge under 

this statute. The police would first have to actually turn money over to the defendants prior to 

any arrest, and then allow defendants to keep the financial proceeds of the prostitution following 

their arrest, as any financial benefit would be wiped out were the money seized and recovered by 

law enforcement. This interpretation must be rejected. See Syl. pt. 2, Click v. Click, 98 W.Va. 

419, 127 S.E. 194 (1925). Nearly all criminal defendants, when caught and arrested, are deprived 

of any financial gains from their crimes, but this serves as no bar to prosecution. Interference by 

law enforcement to stop an illegal transaction and forestall any actual profit is common and 

appropriate. It should not result in a roadblock to the enforcement of laws designed to prevent 

such transactions in the first place. 

If the subsequent offense provision of the statute is interpreted to include prostitutes 

themselves in any capacity, the petitioner in this case qualifies for inclusion and therefore 

qualifies for a prison sentence of one to three years. The Circuit Court, therefore, did not err in 

sentencing the petitioner to one to three years following her plea of guilty. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should affirm the judgment of the Circuit Court of Cabell County.